# A ANNUAL REVIEWS

## Annual Review of Psychology How Can People Become Happier? A Systematic Review of Preregistered Experiments

### Dunigan Folk and Elizabeth Dunn

Department of Psychology, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada; email: duniganfolk@psych.ubc.ca

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2024. 75:467-93

First published as a Review in Advance on August 11, 2023

The Annual Review of Psychology is online at psych.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-022423-030818

Copyright © 2024 by the author(s). This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. See credit lines of images or other third-party material in this article for license information.



- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media



#### **Keywords**

happiness, preregistration, experiments, subjective well-being

#### Abstract

Can happiness be reliably increased? Thousands of studies speak to this question. However, many of them were conducted during a period in which researchers commonly "p-hacked," creating uncertainty about how many discoveries might be false positives. To prevent *p*-hacking, happiness researchers increasingly preregister their studies, committing to analysis plans before analyzing data. We conducted a systematic literature search to identify preregistered experiments testing strategies for increasing happiness. We found surprisingly little support for many widely recommended strategies (e.g., performing random acts of kindness). However, our review suggests that other strategies-such as being more sociable-may reliably promote happiness. We also found strong evidence that governments and organizations can improve happiness by providing underprivileged individuals with financial support. We conclude that happiness research stands on the brink of an exciting new era, in which modern best practices will be applied to develop theoretically grounded strategies that can produce lasting gains in life satisfaction.

#### Contents

INTRODUCTION	468
SEARCH METHODS	470
OVERVIEW	470
ADDITION	470
Practicing Gratitude	470
Being More Sociable	474
Acting Happy	475
Injecting Novelty into Familiar Experiences	476
Looking on the Bright Side	476
Changing Diet	477
Practicing Meditation	477
Helping Others	477
Multicomponent Interventions	480
SUBTRACTION	480
Avoiding Thinking About Better Futures	481
Reducing Unpleasant Time Use	481
Reducing Social Media and Smartphone Use	482
BEYOND INDIVIDUALS	483
Providing Financial Support	484
Workplace Interventions	486
CONCLUSION	487

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Happiness is not the only goal in life, but for many people, it is the most important one (e.g., Benjamin et al. 2012). For example, in a recent survey, thousands of people across nine nations were asked whether they would prefer a happy life, a meaningful life, or a psychologically rich life, filled with novelty and variety (Oishi et al. 2020). In every nation, from India and Angola to the United States and Norway, the majority of people chose a happy life. This common quest for a happy life can potentially be guided by scientific studies examining the determinants of happiness. And over the past few decades, researchers across multiple fields have conducted tens of thousands of studies, yielding exciting insights about the potential for human happiness to be increased.

Unfortunately, however, there are reasons to question the robustness of many of these findings. The meteoric rise of happiness research happened to coincide with a period in which there were no systematic standards to prevent researchers from "*p*-hacking" (i.e., selectively reporting significant analyses; Nelson et al. 2018, Nuzzo 2014). For example, imagine that a researcher randomly assigned 40 participants to take nightly bubble baths (or not) and then to complete two measures of happiness at the end of the week. If they analyzed the data and then decided to run an additional 20 participants, control for gender, and combine their two measures into a single composite, they would have about a one in three chance of finding that bubble baths significantly (*p* < 0.05) increased happiness—even if, in reality, the baths produced no benefits for happiness whatsoever (Simmons et al. 2011).<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For an interactive demonstration of how easily even minimal *p*-hacking can produce significant results, readers may visit https://projects.fivethirtyeight.com/p-hacking/.

#### WHY NOT CONDUCT A META-ANALYSIS OF THE ENTIRE LITERATURE?

Rather than focusing exclusively on preregistered experiments, we could have conducted a meta-analysis including all experiments on happiness. Researchers have traditionally turned to meta-analyses to establish reliable effect sizes, gathering every relevant study—small or large, exploratory or confirmatory—and statistically averaging the results. The underlying assumption is that each study might be just a grain of sand, but together they can make a castle. This assumption, however, has turned out to be false (Simonsohn et al. 2022). By comparing meta-analyses to the gold standard of multisite preregistered replication studies, Kvarven et al. (2020) demonstrated that meta-analyses yielded effect size estimates that were nearly three times too large. One reason for this may be that meta-analysis compounds the problem of p-hacking (Simonsohn et al. 2022, Vosgerau et al. 2019). For example, if ten studies are each p-hacked even slightly (inflating the false positive rate from the standard threshold of 5% to just 8%), then combining these studies meta-analytically will produce a false positive 83% of the time. Thus, it appears that "meta-analysis is as strong as the weakest link" (Nelson et al. 2018, p. 528); in other words, if we build our castles out of sand, we should not be surprised when they wash away.

Startling simulations like this one helped to spur a paradigm shift in the field. Over the past decade, psychologists have begun openly sharing their data and materials, dramatically increasing their sample sizes, and putting more focus on replication of past work, producing a kind of renaissance for the field (Nelson et al. 2018). Perhaps most importantly, psychologists and other scientists are increasingly preregistering their studies, committing to written, time-stamped data analysis plans before analyzing their data (e.g., Nosek et al. 2018). Because preregistration substantially curtails researchers' ability to engage in *p*-hacking, preregistered studies restore the credibility of *p* values, arguably acting as the cure for *p*-hacking (Nelson et al. 2018, Nosek et al. 2018; but see Rubin & Donkin 2022 for a critique).

In the present article, we conducted a systematic search of the happiness literature to identify all preregistered experiments investigating ways to increase people's happiness (see the sidebar titled Why Not Conduct a Meta-Analysis of the Entire Literature?). Of course, correlational and longitudinal studies can also provide valuable clues about possible causal relationships (e.g., Diener et al. 2022). Experimental designs, however, are ultimately required to confirm them. Why limit our discussion to preregistered studies? Much like correlational research, exploratory research can help us discover potential causal relationships but cannot confirm them. Preregistration makes it uniquely possible to distinguish confirmatory results from exploratory ones. We believe happiness research has achieved a stage of maturity in which focusing on confirmatory experimental results is possible and worthwhile.

Of course, not every preregistered experiment offers high evidentiary value. As Vazire (2019) put it, "Transparency doesn't guarantee credibility; transparency and scrutiny together guarantee that research gets the credibility it deserves." In the pages that follow, we offer such scrutiny. We also note the number of participants in each condition because small sample sizes can undermine evidentiary value (e.g., Fraley & Vazire 2014). Indeed, approximately 50 participants per group are required just to show that men weigh more than women (Simmons et al. 2013). So, unless researchers are studying an effect that is larger than this gender difference in weight, studies with cell sizes below n = 50 should probably be viewed with skepticism.

Although the word "happiness" has been used in a variety of ways (see Sheldon 2016 for a review), we embrace Diener's (1984) long-standing definition of happiness as encompassing high life satisfaction, high positive affect, and low negative affect. Together, this happy trio is known as subjective well-being (SWB), a term we use interchangeably with happiness throughout this article.

#### SEARCH METHODS

Supplemental Material >

We conducted a systematic search of PsycInfo, Econlit, and Web of Science databases, with the final search conducted on April 5, 2023. We also reached out to researchers through Twitter, listservs, and email (see the **Supplemental Materials** for full details on the literature search). To identify preregistered experiments testing the effects of happiness interventions, we searched for studies that included at least one word related to happiness (e.g., "positive mood," "life sat-isfaction"), experimental design (e.g., "intervention," "experiment"), and preregistration (e.g., "preregistered," "analysis plan") anywhere in the abstract, keywords, or other metadata. We included studies of both healthy populations and patient populations, unless the study was testing an intervention specifically designed to treat a mental or physical health disorder (e.g., exposure therapy for social anxiety disorder). We also excluded studies focusing exclusively on children. As part of our search, we screened 5,953 papers, of which 251 were potentially relevant for inclusion. After a more detailed analysis, 48 of these papers, encompassing 65 individual studies, met our criteria. Some studies that initially appeared to meet our criteria, but upon careful review did not, are included in **Supplemental Table S2**.

#### **OVERVIEW**

We begin by discussing thinking styles and behaviors that individuals can add to their lives to become happier (see the section titled Addition), and then we consider how eliminating some of our everyday habits might promote happiness (see the section titled Subtraction). Finally, moving beyond a focus on what individuals can do for themselves, we review evidence examining how governments and organizations can promote happiness (see the section titled Beyond Individuals). In line with the scope of our review, all the studies we describe in detail are preregistered experiments (see **Table 1** for effect size estimates from these experiments).

#### ADDITION

#### **Practicing Gratitude**

To express gratitude for his morning coffee, the writer AJ Jacobs found joy in traveling the globe—from iron mines in Minnesota to coffee farms in Colombia—thanking everyone who made his cup of coffee possible (Jacobs 2018). Researchers theorize that experiencing gratitude causes a perspective shift in our lives as a whole, leading us to see our experiences and circumstances through a more positive lens (e.g., Emmons & McCullough 2003, Layous et al. 2014, Nelson-Coffey et al. 2023). According to broaden-and-build theory (Fredrickson 2004), this perspective shift creates an upward spiral of well-being. Thus, aside from being a positive emotion in its own right, gratitude may lead to long-term changes in mindsets that further increase wellbeing.

One online study provided evidence for the immediate benefits of gratitude but failed to find any long-term benefits (Nelson-Coffey et al. 2023). American parents wrote a single gratitude letter to someone in their lives (n = 395) or simply wrote about how they had spent their previous week (n = 217). There were no significant between-group differences in negative affect or subjective happiness, but parents who wrote a gratitude letter were in a significantly more positive mood immediately after the writing task relative to the control condition. Five days after the intervention, however, the two groups no longer differed in positive affect.

Using a slightly longer intervention, Walsh and colleagues (2023) assigned undergraduates to express gratitude on three different days, reporting their happiness the next day

#### Table 1 Effect sizes for the studies reviewed

	Effect size (Cohen's d)			
		Negative		Other (e.g., happiness,
Study	Positive affect	affect	Life satisfaction	affect balance)
Addition				
Practicing gratitude				
Nelson-Coffey et al. (2023)	0.50	0.00	-	0.14
				(happiness)
Walsh et al. (2023)	0.30	-0.07	0.34	_
Increasing sociability				
Kardas et al. (2022, study 5)	-	-	-	1.08
				(enjoyment)
Jacques-Hamilton et al. (2019)	0.48	-	-	-
(momentary measurement)				
Schroeder et al. 2022	0.50	-	-	_
Acting happy				
Coles et al. (2022) (facial mimicry	-	-	-	0.44
condition; smile versus neutral				(happiness)
expression)				
Coles et al. (2023, experiment 1) (negative	-	-	-	0.22
expectancy condition)				(happiness)
Coles et al. (2023, experiment 2) (negative	-	-	-	0.76
expectancy condition)				(happiness)
Coles et al. (2023, experiment 3) (negative	-	-	-	0.40
expectancy condition)				(happiness)
Coles et al. (2023, experiment 5)	-	-	-	0.30
(nonbelievers group)				(happiness)
Coles et al. (2023, experiment 6)	-	-	-	0.16
(nonbelievers group)				(happiness)
Injecting novelty	1	1	1	
West et al. (2021, experiment 1)	0.31	-0.38	-	0.31
				(general satisfaction)
West et al. (2021, experiment 2)	0.37	-0.27	-	0.35
				(general satisfaction)
West et al. (2021, experiment 3)	0.14	-0.13	-	0.19
				(general satisfaction)
O'Brien & Smith (2019, experiment 3b)	-	-	-	0.32
				(enjoyment)
Looking on the bright side	L		1	
Rankin & Sweeny (2022, study 4)	0.13	-0.10	-	_
Keech et al. (2021)	0.07	0.11	0.35	_
Changing diet	1			
Conner et al. (2017) (receiving-fruit	0.12	-0.28	-	-
condition versus control)				
Practicing meditation	1	1	1	
Noone & Hogan (2018)	-0.11	-0.21	-	-
Schroter et al. (2023)	0.20	-	-	-

(Continued)

#### Table 1 (Continued)

	Effect size (Cohen's d)			
		Negative		Other (e.g., happiness,
Study	Positive affect	affect	Life satisfaction	affect balance)
Helping others				
Aknin et al. (2020, experiment 1)	0.36 (affect)	-	-	-
	0.32 (emotion)			
Aknin et al. (2020, experiment 2)	0.03 (affect)	-	-	-
	0.03 (emotion)			
Aknin et al. (2020, experiment 3)	0.06 (affect)	-	-	-
	0.06 (emotion)			
Hannibal et al. (2019, experiment 4)	0.11	-	-	-
Martela & Ryan (2021, experiment 1)	0.14	0.32	-	-
Martela & Ryan (2021, experiment 2)	0.14	0.07	-	-
Martela & Ryan (2021, experiment 3)	0.32	0.11	-	-
Miles & Upenieks (2022, experiment 4)	0.30	-	-	-
O'Brien & Kassirer (2019, experiment 1)	-	-	-	0.46
				(happiness)
O'Brien & Kassirer (2019, experiment 2)	0.27	-	-	_
Varma & Hu (2022, experiment 1)	1.27	-0.58	-	-
Varma & Hu (2022, experiment 2)	0.10	-0.33	-	-
Varma et al. (2023, experiment 1)	0.29	-0.49	-	0.06
				(happiness)
Varma et al. (2023, experiment 2)	0.47	-0.08	-	0.49
				(happiness)
White et al. (2022, experiment 1)	-	-	-	0.32
				(happiness/life
				evaluation)
Kim et al. (2022)	0.02	-	-	
Whillans et al. (2017)	-	-	-	0.15
				(subjective well-being
				composite)
Fritz et al. (2021)	0.09	-0.07	-0.06	-
Y. Archer Lee, Y.C. Guo & F.S. Chen	0.07	0.11	0.35	-
(unpublished manuscript) (regular acts				
of kindness condition versus control				
Multicomponent interportions				
Multicomponent interventions	0.40		1	
Hirshberg et al. (2022)	0.40	-	-	
Heintzelman et al. (2020)	0.46	-0.56	0.30	-
Hobbs et al. (2022)	-	_	-	-
Subtraction				
Avoiding thinking about better futures			T	0.02
O'Brien (2022, study 1)	-	-	-	0.23
			1	(enjoyment)

(Continued)

#### Table 1 (Continued)

	Effect size (Cohen's d)			
		Negative		Other (e.g., happiness,
Study	Positive affect	affect	Life satisfaction	affect balance)
O'Brien (2022, study 2)	-	-	-	0.24
				(enjoyment)
O'Brien (2022, study 3)	-	-	-	0.26
				(enjoyment)
Reducing unpleasant time use				
Whillans et al. (2017)	0.39	-0.44	-	-
Whillans & West (2022)	-	-	-	-0.09
				(subjective well-being
				composite)
Reducing social media and smartphone u	ise			
Dwyer et al. (2018, study 1)	-	-	-	0.29
				(enjoyment)
				0.13
				(overall mood)
Kushlev & Dunn (2019)	-	-	-	-0.09
				(overall mood)
Dwyer et al. (2023)	-	-	-	0.18
				(enjoyment)
Kushlev et al. (2017, study 1)	-	-	-	-0.10
				(overall mood)
Przybylski et al. (2021, study 1)	-0.03	0.12	-	-0.37 (day satisfaction)
Przybylski et al. (2021, study 2)	-0.02	-0.01	-	-0.11 (day satisfaction)
Przybylski et al. (2021, study 3)	-0.15	0.28	-	-0.60 (day satisfaction)
Allcott et al. (2020)	0.05	-	0.14	0.06
				(momentary happiness)
				0.10
D 1 1 1 1 1				(retrospective happiness)
Beyond individuals				
Providing financial support	1		0.10	0.10
Haushofer & Shapiro (2016)	-	_	0.19	0.18
			0.14	(nappiness)
Haushofer et al. (2020b) (cash transfer	-	_	0.14	0.16
M L + 1 & 7 :: 1: (2022)				(nappiness)
Micintosh & Zeitlin (2022)	-	_	-	0.47
				(subjective weil-being
Andorrow at al. (2022)			0.10	composite)
Aniuci scii ci al. (2022)   Haush of an al. (2020a)	-	_	0.19	-
Haushofer et al. (2020a)	-	_	0.05	0.02 (hanningss)
Whillong & West (2022)				0.04
winnans & west (2022)	_	_	_	(subjective well-being
				composite)
Dwyer et al. $(2021)$	0.24	_0.21	0.17	
Dwyci (c al. (2021)	0.27	-0.21	0.17	

(Continued)

#### Table 1 (Continued)

	Effect size (Cohen's d)			
		Negative		Other (e.g., happiness,
Study	Positive affect	affect	Life satisfaction	affect balance)
Dwyer & Dunn (2022)	0.51	-0.43	0.40	-
Lindqvist et al. (2020) (effect size for	-	-	0.11	0.05
increasing \$100,000 in wealth)				(happiness)
Workplace interventions				
Wu & Paluck (2022)	-	-	-	0.44
				(happiness)
Bessone et al. (2021) (sleep intervention	-	-	0.02	0.08
compared to control)				(happiness)
Bessone et al. (2021) (nap intervention	-	-	0.18	0.33
compared to control)				(happiness)

When Cohen's *d*'s for the comparison of interest were supplied in the manuscript, we used this statistic. When the authors did not provide Cohen's *d* in the manuscript, we typically calculated *d* using the t-statistic from a comparison of means between conditions. Specifically, we calculated *d* using  $d = t * \sqrt{1/n_t + 1/n_c}$ , with  $n_t$  being the treatment group sample size and  $n_c$  being the control group sample size. In some cases in which a *t* value was not provided, we calculated *d* using the posttest means, standard deviations, and sample sizes of the control and treatment conditions. For within-subjects designs (which were rare) we used the posttest means, standard deviations, and sample sizes of the two conditions, calculating *d* as if the study had been conducted with a between-subjects design. Negative effect sizes represent declines in the construct of interest. As such, negative effect sizes for negative affect indicate the intervention was successful at reducing negative affect.

(n's  $\approx 229)$ .<sup>2</sup> Depending on condition, participants expressed gratitude through text messages, social media, or through messages they wrote but did not share. Meanwhile, control participants wrote lists of their daily activities. Participants who expressed gratitude in any form reported higher positive affect and greater life satisfaction compared to controls (although there was no significant difference in negative affect).

In summary, both preregistered studies provide strong evidence for the immediate benefits of expressing gratitude in American samples. Theoretically, gratitude should have long-term benefits, but these studies do not provide evidence that the benefits last longer than a day after the gratitude practice ends.

#### **Being More Sociable**

According to two of the most influential theories of human motivation (Baumeister & Leary 1995, Ryan & Deci 2001), people have a core need to feel deeply connected with others. Such connections may have been critically important for the survival of our species across our evolutionary history, and thus humans likely evolved to find social interactions emotionally rewarding (e.g., Baumeister & Leary 1995).

Theoretically, the best way to satisfy our need to belong is through close relationships (Baumeister & Leary 1995), but even brief social interactions with strangers may provide emotional benefits. In a controlled lab context, American university students were instructed to spend 30 minutes interacting with fellow study participants or to stop interacting whenever they wanted and to spend the remaining time sitting in solitude (*n*'s  $\approx$  100; Kardas et al. 2022). Students who interacted with strangers for the entire 30 minutes enjoyed the time far more than participants who were allowed to spend some of the time in solitude. Schroeder and colleagues (2022) also

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Unless two different sample sizes are reported, the *n*'s we report for each study represent the approximate sample size per condition in each experiment.

examined the benefits of interacting with strangers but in a real-world context. During their commute, London residents were asked to spend their time talking with a stranger, spending their time as they typically would, or sitting quietly in solitude (n's  $\approx$  128). Commuters who were asked to interact with a stranger were in a better mood during the commute compared to those who kept to themselves or behaved as they typically would.

Going beyond a single instance of socializing, Jacques-Hamilton and colleagues (2019) investigated the benefits of acting extraverted for 1 week. Australian adults were assigned either to act extraverted—bold, assertive, outgoing, and talkative—or to act introverted—quiet, sensitive, and calm (*n*'s  $\approx$  58). Throughout the week, people experienced more positive moods if they acted extraverted (versus introverted). Interestingly, this intervention appears to have improved positive mood by changing how people behaved during their social interactions rather than by increasing the frequency of their interactions.

Taken together, these three studies provide compelling initial support for the idea that behaving in a more sociable manner may boost positive feelings. Surprisingly, we could not find any preregistered experiments investigating the benefits of improving close relationships, despite the theoretical importance of these relationships for human well-being.

#### Acting Happy

Although we typically assume that feeling happy leads people to act happy, the converse may also be true: Simply smiling could make people feel better. This idea dovetails with the facial feedback hypothesis, which posits that our facial expressions can influence our mood. In a classic test of this hypothesis (Strack et al. 1988), participants were instructed to hold a pen in their mouths in a way that prompted them to smile or frown. Participants found a cartoon funnier if they were led to smile. However, nearly 20 years later, 17 research labs failed to replicate this original finding in a registered replication report (RRR), calling the validity of the facial feedback hypothesis into question (Wagenmaker et al. 2016).

Of course, even if the pen-in-mouth task has no effect, a more natural type of smile might enhance mood. To test this possibility, over 20 labs from 19 different countries formed an adversarial collaboration. As part of a registered report, they induced all participants to (*a*) smile and (*b*) hold a neutral expression (in counterbalanced order) and to report how happy they felt after each expression. Some participants were induced to smile with the pen-in-mouth task, while others smiled in a more natural way, by mimicking a photo of someone else smiling ( $n \approx 500$ ). The pen-in-mouth task produced no benefits for mood compared to the neutral expression, but smiling more naturally did lead to elevated mood. Thus, this large study suggests smiling can induce feelings of happiness as long as the smile is natural.

However, this result could be explained by a demand characteristic: Participants who exhibited a natural smile may have reported feeling happier because they thought this was what the researchers expected. To examine this issue, Coles et al. (2023) conducted three additional studies with university students from the United States and Kenya. Some participants were given no information about the researchers' expectations, while others were told that the researchers either expected or did not expect to find benefits of smiling (n's  $\approx$  75). Even after being told the researchers did not expect any benefits from smiling, participants still reported feeling significantly happier after smiling, although these effects were smaller than in the other two conditions.

Still, participants might have reported feeling happier after smiling because they themselves expected to benefit from putting on a happy face. Thus, Coles et al. (2023) recruited people from dozens of countries and identified those who believed smiling could improve mood (n = 117) and those who did not (n = 70). Even nonbelievers reported being significantly happier after smiling,

Registered reports: preregistered studies that are peer-reviewed before data are collected or analyzed and published regardless of whether the results are significant

#### **MTurkers:**

participants recruited from Amazon's Mechanical Turk (mTurk), a crowdsourcing website in which workers can be paid for completing tasks, including completing research studies although the effect was larger among believers. The authors found the same pattern in a smaller study (*n*'s  $\approx$  28), suggesting that the benefits of smiling cannot be easily explained by expectancy effects.

When Wagenmaker and colleagues (2016) failed to replicate the classic pen-in-mouth study, the facial feedback hypothesis seemed likely to become another casualty of the post–replication crisis era. However, two sets of large, cross-cultural studies provide evidence that exhibiting a natural smile reliably induces immediate mood benefits, regardless of people's beliefs about the facial feedback hypothesis.

#### Injecting Novelty into Familiar Experiences

Increasing happiness in a lasting way is challenging because people readily grow accustomed to pleasurable experiences, a process known as hedonic adaptation (see Frederick & Loewenstein 1999, Lucas 2007, Lyubomirsky 2011 for reviews). Because people adapt to familiar experiences, adding an element of novelty to these experiences may renew the ability to appreciate them.

To test this idea, O'Brien & Smith (2019) asked participants to watch the same entertaining 1-minute video three times in a row. On the third viewing, some participants were asked to watch while holding their hands up to their eyes in a way that created "hand goggles," thereby injecting some novelty into their experience. Compared to control participants who watched the video in a normal way, participants who watched with hand goggles reported enjoying the third viewing more (n's  $\approx$  100). On a theoretical level, this study supports the value of adding novelty to familiar experiences, although it is unclear exactly how to apply this in the real world, where hand goggles might quickly lead to hand cramps. Other research, however, points to a practical way that people might be able to inject novelty into their everyday routines. West et al. (2021) assigned American MTurkers to treat their regular weekends as vacations. Compared to participants who behaved like they would on a typical weekend (n's  $\approx$  220), those who treated their weekend like a vacation reported better moods and greater satisfaction when they returned to work on Monday. The authors replicated these effects in an additional study of MTurkers (n's  $\approx$  268), though they found weaker effects in a final study with MTurkers and American MBA students (*n*'s  $\approx$  267). It is possible that these effects emerged simply because people expected to feel happier after treating the weekend like a vacation, but based on mediation analyses, the authors argue that their vacationers felt happier because they became more immersed in the present moment.

Overall, four studies suggest that taking a novel approach to familiar experiences can increase happiness. Going beyond hand goggles and weekend-long vacations, it would be valuable to develop additional ways that people can put this idea into practice in their daily lives.

#### Looking on the Bright Side

Anyone who has ever experienced a disappointing or stressful event has probably been encouraged to look on the bright side, but is this strategy effective? To put this idea to the test, Rankin & Sweeny (2022) asked American undergraduates to complete a risk assessment of exposure to environmental toxins. While waiting to receive their potentially distressing results, some participants wrote about how finding out they were at a high risk for toxin exposure could have a silver lining, such as being able to avoid future toxin exposure. Compared to participants who simply wrote about their day, students who wrote about silver linings experienced significantly more positive emotion—but no less negative emotion—while waiting for their results ( $n \approx 100$ ). This study suggests that looking on the bright side could be helpful in the midst of a stressful situation, but another study suggests that such positive thinking may not have lasting benefits. During a single lab session, Australian university students learned about how stress could be a useful emotion in their lives and how they could use stress to their advantage (Keech et al. 2021). Meanwhile, control participants completed an unrelated mental imagery task (n's  $\approx$  75). Two weeks later, participants who had learned about the benefits of stress reported viewing stress in a more positive light, suggesting that the manipulation had a lasting effect. However, there were no significant differences between conditions in how much positive or negative affect participants reported experiencing since coming into the lab, suggesting that simply learning to look on the bright side may not yield long-term happiness benefits.

In summary, based on these two preregistered experiments, we think that the advice to look on the bright side may help people feel better about a specific stressor but may not have lasting effects on overall mood.

#### **Changing Diet**

Some exciting recent studies using correlational and longitudinal designs suggest that eating more fruits and vegetables might promote happiness (e.g., Blanchflower et al. 2013, Lesani et al. 2016, Piqueras et al. 2011). Testing this idea in a 2-week experiment, Conner et al. (2017) provided young adults in New Zealand with daily servings of fruit or texted them daily reminders to eat more fruit. Compared to participants who were told to maintain their normal diet (n's  $\approx$  57), neither of the fruit-related interventions increased participants' daily positive or negative affect during the 2 weeks of the study.

In sum, the only preregistered experiment on fruit and vegetable consumption failed to find significant benefits for happiness, but this could be due to low power, underscoring the need for large-scale studies on this topic.

#### **Practicing Meditation**

Practicing meditation is one of the most frequently recommended strategies for becoming happier, according to a review of media stories about increasing happiness (Folk & Dunn 2023). Yet, only two small preregistered experiments have tested the SWB benefits of meditation (Noone & Hogan 2018, Schroter et al. 2023). In one of these studies, German undergraduates who listened to a 20-minute guided meditation reported no significant increases in mood immediately afterward, compared to participants who listened to a 20-minute audiobook recording (n's  $\approx$  56; Schroter et al. 2023). Testing the effects of a longer meditation intervention, Noone & Hogan (2018) found that Irish university students who listened to guided meditations on a mobile app for 6 weeks reported no significant improvements in mood compared to students who listened to unrelated audio recordings (n's  $\approx$  46).

Overall, two small preregistered studies found no evidence for the mood benefits of meditation. Thus, there is an urgent need for larger, preregistered experiments on this topic, given the—possibly premature—enthusiasm that meditation has garnered as a strategy for increasing happiness.

#### **Helping Others**

So far, we have described how people can change their thoughts and behaviors to help themselves get happier—but theoretically, helping others may actually be among the best ways to become happier. Over the course of human evolution, the ability to help one another may have been critical for survival (e.g., Aknin et al. 2013, Henrich & Henrich 2006). Thus, our species may have evolved to experience pleasure from helping others, thereby reinforcing this adaptive behavior. Consistent with this logic, a meta-analysis of 27 experiments found that engaging in a kind or

helpful action produced reliable benefits for SWB (Curry et al. 2018). Although meta-analyses can yield exaggerated effect sizes, Curry et al. (2018) found only a moderate effect size (d = 0.28), suggesting that researchers would need over 200 participants per condition to detect the benefits of beneficence.

While Curry et al. (2018) examined a wide range of experimental manipulations involving kindness or generosity, most of the preregistered experiments in this area have focused specifically on prosocial spending, that is, using money to benefit others. Aknin et al. (2022) recently reviewed all 15 published preregistered experiments on prosocial spending, and thus we provide a relatively brief overview of these studies here (Aknin et al. 2020, Hannibal et al. 2019, Martela & Ryan 2021, Miles & Upenieks 2022, O'Brien & Kassirer 2019, Varma & Hu 2022, Varma et al. 2023, White et al. 2022). Of these 15 experiments, 7 included fairly large samples, with at least 200 participants per condition. Almost all of these well-powered preregistered experiments provide support for the contention that using money to benefit others can increase one's own happiness (see Aknin et al. 2022, table 1).

For example, in an RRR, Aknin et al. (2020) paid Canadian university students \$2.50 for completing a questionnaire in the lab and then informed them that they could use this money to purchase a goody bag filled with treats. Participants in the prosocial spending condition were told that the goody bag would be donated to a sick child in a local hospital, while those in the personal spending condition were told that the goody bag would be theirs to keep (n's  $\approx$  350). To ensure that participants felt that their spending decision was freely chosen, participants in both conditions were told that they could choose to receive their study payment in cash instead. Picking up the cash payment was somewhat inconvenient, however, which served as a subtle-but effective—nudge that encouraged participants to spend the money, with almost 98% choosing to do so. Having purchased the goody bag, participants watched the research assistant package up the treats, thereby making their purchase concrete and vivid. Consistent with the preregistered hypothesis, participants reported higher positive affect right after purchasing the goody bag for the sick child rather than for themselves. Similar benefits of prosocial spending have been observed in well-powered experiments using other procedures, measures, and samples-including, most notably, among individuals with a history of serious criminal activity (Hannibal et al. 2019).

In contrast, of the eight underpowered experiments (n's < 200) that Aknin et al. (2022) reviewed, only half provided any support for the happiness benefits of prosocial spending (see Aknin et al. 2022, table 1). A newer experiment with a small sample also found little support for the benefits of spending money on others. Kim et al. (2022) gave undergraduates in California \$10 to spend on a gift for themselves or someone else (n's  $\approx$  67). There were no differences between conditions in overall positive affect at the end of the day, although participants who bought a gift for others (versus themselves) did recall feeling happier immediately after spending the money on an exploratory single-item measure.

Thus, whereas early experiments on prosocial spending relied on small sample sizes (e.g., Dunn et al. 2008), it is now clear that large samples (n's > 200) are necessary to reliably detect the benefits of spending money on others. Leaving sample size aside, several other patterns also emerge from comparing the results of these preregistered experiments (see also Aknin et al. 2022). First, prosocial spending is more likely to produce detectable increases in happiness when people are asked to engage in actual spending (rather than recalling past spending experiences). Second, choice matters: People are more likely to exhibit a boost in happiness when they have some freedom to choose whether or how to spend on others. Finally, people are more likely to report joy from giving when they are able to directly observe or vividly imagine how their gift will benefit the recipients.

While 16 preregistered experiments have examined the happiness benefits of using money to benefit others, only one has tested the benefits of using time to benefit others through volunteer work. As part of a registered report,<sup>3</sup> Whillans et al. (2017) studied undergraduates at a university in Boston who had signed up for a community service learning program, which entailed completing 10–12 hours of formal volunteering each week. Importantly, because the program was oversubscribed, interested students were randomly selected to participate, enabling the researchers to compare students who completed the program (n = 232) with a smaller group assigned to the program's waitlist (n = 56). All of these students completed measures of positive affect, negative affect, and life satisfaction—which were combined to form an SWB index—both right before the program began (the first week of the semester) and when it concluded (at the end of the term). Using Bayesian analyses, the researchers found strong evidence in favor of the null hypothesis is notable given that many correlational and longitudinal studies have documented an association between volunteering and happiness (e.g., Musick & Wilson 2003) and that volunteering has been heralded as a pathway to increasing happiness (e.g., Hopper 2020).

Beyond focusing specifically on giving time or money, two recent experiments have examined acts of kindness more broadly. Adults in the United States were told to perform three acts of kindness on one day each week for 4 weeks, while those in a control group kept track of their daily activities over the same period (*n*'s  $\approx$  80) (Fritz et al. 2021).<sup>4</sup> All participants completed a measure of life satisfaction right before the study began and again at the end of the 4-week intervention period, as well as 2 weeks postintervention, while also completing measures of positive and negative affect every week before and during the intervention period. Compared to controls, participants who completed acts of kindness exhibited no detectable improvement in positive affect, negative affect, or life satisfaction. In a very similar study, university students in Canada were assigned to complete an act of kindness once a day for 2 weeks (Y. Archer Lee, Y.C. Guo & F.S. Chen, unpublished manuscript). Other students were also assigned to complete acts of kindness but to do so anonymously, while those in an active control group were assigned to take a brief break each day to do something fun or relaxing (n's  $\approx$  135). All participants filled out brief measures of their daily positive and negative affect and life satisfaction for several days before and afterward, as well as completing longer retrospective measures of each aspect of SWB at the beginning and end of the study. Comparing change on these measures between conditions, the researchers found no significant benefits of the kindness intervention on daily life satisfaction or positive affect, or on any of the retrospective measures. However, the researchers found some tentative evidence<sup>5</sup> that engaging in acts of kindness buffered participants from negative affect, although this benefit did not emerge for individuals assigned to complete kind acts anonymously.

In summary, a total of 19 preregistered experiments have tested whether helping others promotes happiness, yielding mixed results. We believe that the most parsimonious explanation for these mixed results is that the benefits of prosocial behavior are real but relatively small, requiring substantial sample sizes (n's > 200) to be detected reliably. That said, it is also notable that all of the strong evidence for these benefits comes from research on using money to benefit others; remarkably, based on our review of preregistered experiments, there is no clear evidence that engaging in volunteer work or practicing acts of kindness can promote happiness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Some of the data were collected and analyzed prior to the submission of this registered report, but because the editor and reviewers approved of treating this work as a registered report, we include it in our review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The experiment also included an active control group, in which participants performed acts of kindness toward themselves (n = 74), but analyses involving this group were treated as exploratory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The observed effects appear to be driven by preexisting differences between conditions in baseline negative affect.

#### **Multicomponent Interventions**

Theoretically, the efficacy of any happiness strategy should depend on how well it fits with an individual's own personality, motivation, and circumstances (Lyubomirsky & Layous 2013, Schueller 2014). To maximize such person–activity fit, interventions would ideally be personalized, but a more practical approach may lie in designing multicomponent interventions, which potentially offer something for everyone.

Taking this approach, Hirshberg et al. (2022) created a free smartphone app featuring daily mindfulness and meditation tasks as well as directions to engage in other happiness interventions, such as talking to strangers and thinking about sources of purpose in life. They asked American teachers to use the app for a few minutes a day for 4 weeks. Compared to a waitlist control group (n's  $\approx$  330), teachers assigned to use the app reported higher positive affect at the end of the intervention period—and remarkably, this difference remained significant 3 months later. However, because the app included podcast-style recordings that touted the happiness benefits of the activities included in the app, participants may have reported feeling happier because of their own expectations.

In a similar vein, Hobbs et al. (2022) compared British university students who took an online Science of Happiness course (n = 166) with students waiting to take the course (n = 198). As part of the course, students completed a series of positive psychology interventions, such as gratitude journaling and practicing random acts of kindness, while learning about the scientific evidence underlying these interventions. At the end of the 10-week course, students scored higher on a measure of overall happiness compared to their peers who had not yet taken the course. Again, expectancy effects cloud the interpretation of this exciting finding: The difference between groups might have emerged because students expected the course to make them happier, based on what they learned about the science of happiness.

Circumventing such expectancy effects is difficult, but one study dealt with this issue by obtaining happiness ratings not only from participants but also from their peers. In this study, adults in North America completed a program called ENHANCE, which involved learning about and completing a variety of positive psychology interventions, from practicing mindfulness and gratitude to engaging in more social interactions (Heintzelman et al. 2020). After 12 weeks of this program, participants reported greater improvements in positive and negative affect and life satisfaction compared to a waitlist control group (n's  $\approx$  67). Importantly, their peers also reported that participants in the ENHANCE group exhibited higher life satisfaction at the end of the intervention, although there were no significant differences in peer reports of mood relative to the waitlist control group. After an additional 12-week maintenance phase that involved check-ins to promote continued integration of the activities into daily life, participants in the ENHANCE (versus control) condition still reported significantly greater life satisfaction, but the difference in peer reports did not reach significance.

Taken together, these three studies suggest that multipronged approaches may be successful in improving SWB, although only one study effectively dealt with the thorny problem of expectancy effects. A notable strength of these studies is that they tested the interventions over much longer time frames than is typical in the broader experimental literature on happiness.

#### SUBTRACTION

In contemplating how to become happier, it may feel natural to think of new habits or activities that we could add to our lives (Klotz 2021). However, the research reviewed below suggests that eliminating some of our habitual thoughts and behaviors could provide an effective route to happiness.

#### **Avoiding Thinking About Better Futures**

When the iPhone 13 was released in the United States, it sold out in a matter of hours (Swingle 2021). Is it possible that people's obsessions with the latest and greatest upcoming technology can cause them to enjoy their current models less? Across three studies, O'Brien (2022) tested whether knowing about an upcoming product upgrade dampens the enjoyment people gain from the current version. In one study, MTurkers played a novel video game; some participants simply saw a flyer for the video game they were about to play, while others saw a flyer for a forthcoming version of this game or for an unrelated forthcoming video game (*n*'s  $\approx$  269). Participants enjoyed playing the game significantly more when they were not made aware of the newer, better version of the game. The author successfully replicated this pattern in two additional studies examining enjoyment of a virtual reality game (*n*'s  $\approx$  104) and an immersive virtual city tour (*n*'s  $\approx$  244).

In sum, this single set of studies provides evidence for the hypothesis that remaining in the dark about exciting future technologies may help us enjoy the present versions more—though it remains to be seen whether this strategy can be harnessed in everyday life.

#### **Reducing Unpleasant Time Use**

Subtracting unpleasant tasks from one's day may be an effective, and underutilized, strategy for promoting happiness. For example, household chores (such as cleaning or mowing the lawn) tend to rank among the least happy activities of the day in descriptive studies of time use (e.g., Han & Kaiser 2022, Kahneman et al. 2004). One way to reduce the time devoted to such tasks would be to simply give up on doing them (or on doing them well), but a more practical strategy may lie in paying for time-saving services. Whillans et al. (2017) tested the potential happiness benefits of this strategy in a within-subject study conducted on two consecutive weekends with 60 working adults in Canada. On one weekend, participants received \$40 to spend on any purchase that would save them time, while on another weekend, participants received \$40 to spend on a material purchase. Participants reported more positive affect and less negative affect at the end of the day when they made a time-saving purchase compared to the day when they made a material purchase. Participants also reported feeling less pressed for time on the day when they made a time-saving purchase, and this reduction in time stress mediated the effect of spending on mood. Although mediation analyses should always be interpreted with caution, this pattern of results is consistent with the idea that cutting back on unpleasant activities may promote happiness by reducing feelings of time pressure. These benefits do not seem particularly surprising, but when Whillans et al. (2017) asked 98 working adults in Canada how they would spend a \$40 windfall, only 2% said they would choose to make a time-saving purchase. This suggests that reducing unpleasant time use, like other forms of subtraction, may be an underutilized strategy in daily life.

Would the documented benefits of buying time extend beyond relatively affluent populations? To put this question to the test, as part of a registered report, Whillans & West (2022) conducted a field experiment with a large sample of working mothers in an urban slum of Kenya (n's  $\approx$  360). One group of women received vouchers for laundry services or prepared meals that they could redeem each week for 3 consecutive weeks, saving recipients an average of 3 to 7 hours per week. Meanwhile, a control group of women received no benefit, aside from being paid to complete surveys (a third group received additional money, as discussed in our section below on cash transfers). Using Bayesian analyses, the researchers found evidence supporting the null hypothesis: Women who received time-saving vouchers did not show greater improvements on SWB the week after the intervention ended, compared to women in the control condition. Interestingly, however, exploratory analyses showed that women in both conditions exhibited substantial increases in SWB over the course of the study, perhaps because the additional money all participants earned for

completing surveys was sufficient to enhance their happiness. In any case, this carefully conducted registered report provides some important "evidence of absence": In a severely disadvantaged population, time-saving services did not raise SWB above and beyond the benefits of receiving cash payments for survey completion.

In summary, these two experiments suggest that eliminating unpleasant daily tasks by buying time may be an effective route to increasing happiness for busy working adults in wealthy countries like Canada, but this insight may not generalize well to more financially constrained populations.

#### **Reducing Social Media and Smartphone Use**

The world was introduced to Facebook in 2006 (Hall 2023) and to the iPhone in 2007 (Montgomery & Mingis 2022), ushering in a new era of technology. By 2021, adults spent nearly a third of their waking hours using mobile apps, according to an observational study of consumers across ten countries (data.ai 2022). These rapid technological changes have spurred intense debate about the potentially detrimental consequences of smartphones and social media for well-being (e.g., Resnick 2019, Turkle 2011, Twenge 2019). Most empirical discussions of these issues rely on correlational and longitudinal analyses, and the conclusions seem to rest heavily on the researchers' analytical decisions (e.g., Orben & Przybylski 2019, Twenge et al. 2022). Although there are relatively few preregistered experiments on this topic, the existing studies suggest that reducing the use of smartphones and social media can potentially improve happiness.

Why would smartphones undermine subjective well-being? According to recent theorizing (e.g., Kushlev et al. 2019), smartphones may distract people from engaging in social interactions or may even supplant these interactions entirely. Because social interactions represent an important source of enjoyment in a typical day (e.g., Kahneman et al. 2004), reducing the quality or quantity of in-person interactions should impair SWB. To test the potential role of such distractions in a naturalistic social setting, Dwyer et al. (2018) invited people to have dinner at a cafe in Vancouver, Canada, with several friends or family members (*n*'s  $\approx$  150). Half the groups were instructed to keep their phones out and available during the meal-ostensibly to complete a brief survey later in the meal—while the other groups were instructed to put phones away; this instruction was embedded within other housekeeping details about the study to conceal that the study was actually about phone use. At the end of the meal, participants who had access to their phones reported feeling much more distracted and enjoying the experience significantly less compared to participants who had put their phones away, although the groups did not differ in overall mood. In a similar study (n's  $\approx$  100), parents were asked to maximize or minimize their phone use while visiting a science museum in Canada with their children (Kushlev & Dunn 2019). After spending approximately half an hour at the museum, parents who maximized (versus minimized) their phone use did not differ on a single-item measure of mood, but they did report feeling substantially more distracted and less socially connected (suggesting that mood effects might have been detectable with a longer measure or larger sample). Taken together, these studies suggest that phone use can distract people from fully engaging with loved ones, sometimes leading to downstream negative effects for enjoyment.

Phones may also reduce interactions with strangers. As part of a registered report, Dwyer et al. (2023) asked small groups of unacquainted students in Canada to wait for 20 minutes in a makeshift rec room, with or without their phones (n's  $\approx$  200). When they did not have access to their phones, the students socialized much more and reported enjoying their time in the waiting room marginally more. Of course, in many situations, the costs of missing out on casual interactions with strangers may be largely outweighed by the benefits that phones provide. To examine a common situation in which phones provide useful information, Kushlev et al. (2017) asked undergraduates

to find a building on their large Canadian campus with or without using their smartphones (*n*'s  $\approx$  46). Participants who did not use their phones talked to more people while finding the building and felt more socially connected. Yet, they reported slightly worse moods by the time they arrived at the building, though this effect was not significant in this small sample.<sup>6</sup> Taken together, these studies suggest that phone use can reduce the quality and quantity of social interactions, but the net consequences for SWB may hinge on the emotional value of these interactions relative to the value of the information (or entertainment) offered by the phone.

This conclusion underscores the importance of understanding how exactly people are using their phones. Smartphones can be used in a wide variety of ways, from listening to podcasts to practicing meditation, but most research has focused specifically on social media use. Because social media may consume immense amounts of time and provoke distressing social comparisons (e.g., Verduyn et al. 2020), it seems reasonable that getting off social media might increase happiness. To test the potential benefits of a 1-day digital detox, Przybylski et al. (2021) conducted three experiments with samples of undergraduates from the United States, United Kingdom, and Hong Kong, all using the same within-subjects design. In each country, participants were assigned to use social media as usual on one day and to abstain completely from social media on another day (n's  $\approx$  100). This digital detox did not produce reliable effects on overall positive mood, negative mood, or satisfaction with the day; if anything, participants felt slightly worse on the day they abstained from social media.<sup>7</sup>

Of course, it is possible that people need to abstain from social media for longer periods in order to reap the theorized benefits. One exceptionally large and ambitious experiment successfully manipulated longer-term social media use among adults in the United States, all of whom reported being willing to deactivate their Facebook accounts—which they used regularly—in exchange for pay (Allcott et al. 2020). From this sample, 580 participants were paid approximately \$100 USD to deactivate their Facebook accounts for 4 weeks, while 1,081 people in the control group were not instructed to alter their Facebook use during this period. Participants responded to single-item text messages assessing their current overall happiness and positive emotions each day throughout the intervention period, and no significant between-group differences emerged. However, at the end of the intervention, participants who gave up Facebook reported feeling more satisfied with life and being happier overall across the preceding 4 weeks, compared to the control group.

Overall, seven preregistered experiments have tested the potential happiness benefits of cutting back on the use of smartphones and social media. These studies point to the conclusion that reducing smartphone use is not inherently beneficial for SWB, but it may increase enjoyment of rewarding social situations, such as dining out with friends. In contrast, brief reductions in social media use (e.g., 1 day) may not feel good at the time, but longer-term abstinence (e.g., 1 month) may ultimately enhance life satisfaction.

#### **BEYOND INDIVIDUALS**

While most happiness research focuses on how individuals can change their own thoughts or behaviors to improve their happiness, an exciting body of research is moving beyond this focus on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In a direct replication with a larger sample size, people who did not use their phones reported significantly worse mood, but mood was treated as an exploratory variable (Kushlev et al. 2017, experiment 2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Specifically, participants in both the United States and Hong Kong reported lower satisfaction on the day of abstinence, and participants in Hong Kong also reported higher negative affect that day, but these effects were not robust when the researchers controlled for variability in age and gender, as preregistered.

the individual, evaluating how governments and organizations can potentially improve people's happiness.

#### **Providing Financial Support**

Upon his death in 44 BC, Julius Caesar left 300 Roman coins for each citizen (Goldsworthy 2006). More recently, governments and nonprofit organizations have frequently utilized cash transfers in an attempt to raise the well-being of disadvantaged populations. According to a recent metaanalysis of 45 studies conducted in low- and middle-income countries, cash transfers lead to a small but significant increase in SWB (d = 0.13) (McGuire et al. 2022). Although most of these studies were not preregistered, a growing number of rigorous preregistered experiments suggest that such cash transfers and other forms of financial support can provide an efficient mechanism for enhancing happiness.

In an elegant study conducted in rural Kenya, Haushofer & Shapiro (2016) randomly assigned 503 households with thatched roofs—a marker of poverty—to receive unconditional cash transfers. The researchers manipulated the timing of the transfers (monthly versus one lump sum) as well as their size, with each household receiving a total of either \$300 or \$1,000 USD;<sup>8</sup> even the smaller transfer was double what these households spent in a typical month. Adults in these households completed single-item measures of happiness and life satisfaction approximately 4 months after the final transfer. Compared to a control group of households (n = 505) in the same villages that did not receive transfers, cash recipients exhibited significant improvements in both happiness and life satisfaction.<sup>9</sup> These benefits were similar regardless of whether the transfers were provided monthly or as a lump sum—but size mattered, with larger transfers leading to significantly larger increases in life satisfaction. Approximately 3 years later, the researchers followed up with the same participants and found that cash recipients still reported significantly higher levels of happiness and life satisfaction compared to households that had not received cash<sup>10</sup> (Haushofer & Shapiro 2018).

In another study conducted in rural Kenya using the same outcome measures, Haushofer and colleagues (2020b) randomly assigned 540 households to receive \$485 USD, which was approximately 20 times their monthly per capita spending.<sup>11</sup> Meanwhile, other households (n = 525) received 5 weeks of psychotherapy. Another 493 households received both cash transfers and psychotherapy, while a large control group of households (n = 1,703) received neither benefit. Approximately 1 year later, cash recipients reported significantly greater happiness and life satisfaction compared to the control group. Interestingly, participants who had received psychotherapy were not happier or more satisfied compared to the control group, suggesting that distributing money may be a more effective intervention than offering therapy in this population.<sup>12</sup>

Cash transfers have also been compared against other interventions, including job training. Poor, underemployed young people in Rwanda were randomly assigned to receive cash transfers (n = 672) ranging in size from \$317 to \$750 USD (McIntosh & Zeitlin 2022). Meanwhile, other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Although participants are normally provided with cash transfers in their local currency, we provide all amounts in USD to facilitate comparisons across studies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>These variables were preregistered for analysis as part of a broader index of psychological well-being.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>It is possible that this difference could partially reflect a negative spillover effect, whereby people who did not receive cash became less happy due to their neighbors in the same village receiving cash.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Households were randomly assigned to receive the transfers weekly for 5 weeks or in one lump sum, but the results were similar regardless of delivery timing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>The authors found that receiving both cash and psychotherapy led to marginally greater life satisfaction than receiving cash alone.

participants received job training (n = 485), both cash and job training (n = 203), or neither form of support (control group; n = 488). On average, the cash transfers were roughly double the size of per capita annual income, and the cost of providing them was similar to the cost of providing the job training program. Fourteen months after distributing cash, the researchers measured both happiness and life satisfaction using single-item scales, which they combined to form an index of SWB. Compared to the control group, participants who received cash transfers reported higher SWB; this effect was largest for those who received the biggest transfers, though the effect was significant even for participants who received the smallest transfers. Young people who received job training also exhibited higher SWB compared to those in the control group, but the benefits of receiving cash were about twice as large as the benefits of receiving job training.

Although cash transfers provide perhaps the simplest mechanism for increasing the wealth of disadvantaged populations, one study examined a different mechanism: a housing lottery. In Ethiopia, 1,485 low- and middle-income people won a lottery that gave them the right to purchase a subsidized apartment, leaving them 20 times wealthier compared to people who lost the lottery (n = 1,564) (Andersen et al. 2022). Two years after the housing lottery, winners were significantly more satisfied with life than losers. Although this substantial improvement in life satisfaction could be due in part to having access to better housing, only one-third of the owners had actually moved in, while one-third were planning to move in, and one-third were renting out the apartment. Thus, the beneficial effects appear to stem largely from the increased wealth of owning this major asset.

In contrast to these promising results, two other studies conducted in Kenya found no happiness benefits stemming from smaller cash transfers. Haushofer et al. (2020a) studied Kenyan metal workers, known as *jua kali*, meaning "under the hot sun" (referring to their difficult working conditions). The workers received either \$147 USD (n = 219) or a 1-year health insurance policy (n = 206) worth the same amount. Meanwhile, workers in the control group (n = 268) received no support. Although the cash transfer amount was equivalent to around 1 month of income, the workers who received the money showed no detectable improvements in happiness or life satisfaction approximately 1 year later, compared to those in the health insurance group and control group (which did not differ from each other). In a study of much smaller cash transfers, Whillans & West (2022) provided working mothers in Kenya (n = 366) with approximately \$4 USD each week for 3 weeks, effectively boosting their income by around 30% during that period. One week after the transfers ended, these women reported higher SWB than they had before the transfers. However, this improvement was no greater than the improvement observed in the control condition, perhaps because women in the control condition also received payments for completing surveys, providing them with a ~15% increase in income.

While all of the studies described above were conducted in lower-income countries, there is a growing interest in examining the benefits of cash transfers in wealthier countries. In a small study conducted in Canada, 50 homeless adults received a lump sum of \$6,000 USD, an amount equivalent to 60% of their annual income (Dwyer et al. 2021). One month later, they reported marginally greater positive affect, but they showed no improvement in negative affect or life satisfaction relative to homeless adults who did not receive cash (n = 75). These weak but positive effects point to the need for more high-powered studies in wealthy countries, although such studies are inherently expensive.

Most cash transfer studies have been conducted with relatively narrow samples of severely disadvantaged people, but one recent experiment recruited a diverse global sample of participants with household incomes ranging from nearly nothing to \$400,000 USD per year. Half the sample was drawn from lower-income countries (Brazil, Indonesia, and Kenya) and half from higher-income countries (United States, United Kingdom, Australia, and Canada) (Dwyer & Dunn 2022). All participants signed up for a "mystery experiment," which was advertised on

Twitter and overseen by the nonprofit organization TED. To the participants' surprise, 200 of them were sent \$10,000 USD with almost no strings attached, aside from the instruction to spend this money within 3 months. Meanwhile, the remaining 100 were randomly assigned to a control condition and received nothing aside from survey payments. All participants completed measures of happiness when they signed up for the mystery experiment and again every month for 3 months after the cash transfers were distributed. Compared to the control group, participants who received \$10,000 USD exhibited significant gains in life satisfaction and positive affect as well as significant reductions in negative affect. These benefits may have been magnified by the requirement to go on a spending spree, but cash transfer recipients still exhibited elevated happiness on an exploratory survey administered several months after most participants had spent their windfall (6 months after the transfers).

Although the studies described above examined happiness at most a few years after the cash transfers, a study of lottery winners suggests that the benefits of receiving cash may have even more enduring effects. Using a creative quasi-experimental design, Lindqvist et al. (2020) measured happiness among thousands of Swedish lottery players, including 662 who had won large prizes of over \$100,000 USD, 1,953 who had won small prizes (\$5,000-\$100,000 USD), and 772 ticket buyers who had never won. Lottery players were contacted in 2016, between 5 to 22 years after the winners had taken home their prizes. The researchers found no significant long-term effects of winning the lottery resulted in significantly greater life satisfaction. For every \$100,000 USD won, lottery players exhibited 0.037 standard deviations more life satisfaction (d = 0.11). Although this exchange rate between money and life satisfaction sounds rather unimpressive, the authors note that this improvement in life satisfaction is equivalent to reducing daily commuting time by about half an hour.

Taken together, the collection of studies above provide compelling evidence that increases in wealth cause increases in SWB. While small cash transfers—equivalent to 1 week or month of income—do not necessarily produce benefits, people who receive a large influx of cash exhibit lasting improvements in SWB. Moreover, cash seems to be as good or better than other interventions that carry similar costs, including psychotherapy and job training. Many of the studies in this area stand out for their excellent research practices, including precise preregistrations, potent interventions, long-term follow-ups, and large sample sizes. This literature also includes participants from a wide array of countries, from Kenya, Rwanda, and Ethiopia to the United Kingdom, Canada, and Sweden. Thus, we would point happiness researchers to this area of work as an aspirational model of what is possible.

#### Workplace Interventions

A typical full-time worker will spend approximately 80,000 hours working (Todd 2020), underscoring the potential value of workplace-based interventions. In an intervention with 1,752 Chinese factory workers (Wu & Paluck 2022), supervisors stepped aside and invited open discussion among team members (n = 31 teams) each week for 6 weeks. Meanwhile, in the status quo condition, supervisors lectured their teams on various work-related topics (n = 34 teams). One week after the intervention ended, individuals who attended the open discussions were happier than those in the status quo condition, although this difference did not reach significance due to the small number of teams.<sup>13</sup> Another ambitious experiment investigated the benefits of increasing sleep for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The preregistered analysis accounted for group-level covariance, which rendered the results nonsignificant, underscoring the challenges of conducting team-based research.

workers (Bessone et al. 2021). The researchers hired people to work in a data-entry job for 1 month in an office in India. This setup enabled them to test a menu of interventions for increasing workers' sleep, including providing a fully equipped nap station at the office, supplying education and materials to support sleep (e.g., earplugs), and offering financial incentives to increase sleep. Control participants received items (e.g., kitchen utensils) and financial rewards unrelated to sleep (n's = 150). The results suggest that out of all the interventions, napping at work produced the most reliable increases in happiness and life satisfaction.

In summary, these two experiments suggest that relatively simple interventions in the workplace, such as offering a place to nap, can potentially enhance life satisfaction among workers.

#### CONCLUSION

How can happiness be reliably increased? Our review of preregistered experiments points to the value of expressing gratitude, being more sociable, acting happy, and spending money on others. In contrast, we found surprisingly little support for many commonly recommended strategies for promoting happiness, including practicing meditation, doing random acts of kindness, or engaging in volunteer work. Most happiness research has focused on practices that individuals can add to their lives, but some recent studies provide hints that removing some of our daily habits could also improve happiness; specifically, individuals may benefit from giving up social media use for an extended period or buying themselves out of unpleasant daily tasks. While researchers have traditionally focused on how individuals can improve their own happiness, a growing collection of rigorous studies underscores the potential for governments and organizations to enhance SWB by providing underprivileged people with financial support.

It is important to emphasize that by focusing exclusively on preregistered experiments, we are reviewing only the tip of the iceberg of happiness research. Other experiments appear to provide support for various happiness-promoting strategies, but because these studies were not preregistered, the methodological and analytical decisions underlying their results are less transparent and thus more difficult to evaluate. Moreover, whereas most of the studies we reviewed here had reasonable sample sizes, the vast majority of experimental studies on happiness have relied on very small samples (White et al. 2019). In another recent review, we examined the experimental evidence underlying strategies (e.g., exercise) that are most commonly recommended in the media for increasing happiness (Folk & Dunn 2023). We found that less than 10% of these studies had sufficient power to detect an effect size of d = 0.43, which Richard et al. (2003) identified as the average effect size in social psychology.

In contrast, the preregistered experiments we reviewed here suggest that even major interventions may yield much smaller effect sizes (see **Table 1**). For example, after giving up Facebook for 1 month, participants exhibited an increase in life satisfaction of d = 0.14. Detecting this effect size in a between-subjects design would require over 800 participants per condition,<sup>14</sup> which far exceeds the sample sizes used in most experiments on social media use. Across our entire review, the largest effect size we observed for life satisfaction was d = 0.40 (an effect size that would require 100 participants per condition). In this study, participants received \$10,000 USD and completed life satisfaction measures in the midst of a 3-month spending spree (Dwyer & Dunn 2022). This study may provide a useful benchmark for the largest effect size researchers should anticipate for life satisfaction, given an extremely potent intervention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>For all power analyses reported here, we used G\*Power to compute the sample size necessary for 80% power to detect the expected effect size with a standard between-subjects t-test ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ).

Rather than testing potentially life-changing interventions, many researchers test the effects of fairly minimal manipulations, but they are able to observe reliable effects by measuring mood immediately afterward. For example, in one prototypical study (Varma et al. 2023), participants reported significantly more positive affect (d = 0.29) right after donating a dollar to charity rather than keeping it for themselves. Detecting an effect of this magnitude would require around 200 participants per condition. As the examples above highlight, effect sizes vary widely depending on the methodological features of individual studies. Thus, in conducting power analyses, we urge researchers to carefully consider features such as the potency and duration of their manipulation and the timing and type of their measurements. Although it is tempting to average across all the effect sizes provided in Table 1, the resulting average effect size would be essentially meaningless, given the vast heterogeneity of the methods in these studies (e.g., Simonsohn et al. 2022). That said, if researchers were forced to choose an effect size at gunpoint, with no time to review the most relevant studies, we would suggest that a reasonable starting point would be d = 0.20(which would require approximately 400 participants per condition). This very rough benchmark might still be better than relying on previous small studies that were not preregistered. Our reading of the literature suggests that-in the absence of preregistration-small studies with minimal manipulations produce implausibly large effects on happiness.

Indeed, there are good theoretical reasons to believe that happiness should be hard to increase in a lasting way (e.g., Frederick & Loewenstein 1999, Lyubomirsky 2011). Our emotional systems are attuned to change, but we quickly adapt to most stable life circumstances, such that walking down the aisle is thrilling, but walking down the stairs to see our spouse at the breakfast table is not. Thus, it is critical to understand whether the strategies included in this review continue to provide happiness over time. For example, people feel happier when they treat the weekend like a vacation (West et al. 2021), but it seems unlikely that this strategy would continue to deliver benefits weekend after weekend.

Our review also revealed that some of the most important theoretical perspectives in happiness research remain largely untested with preregistered experiments. For example, according to self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci 2001) and work on the need to belong (Baumeister & Leary 1995), feeling deeply connected to close others is critically important for human happiness. Remarkably, however, no preregistered experiment has tested whether increasing the quality or quantity of time that people spend with loved ones can produce lasting benefits for happiness. As another example, according to broaden-and-build theory (Fredrickson 2004), experiencing positive emotions like gratitude can change our behaviors and thought patterns in a way that creates long-term social and psychological resources, thereby increasing our well-being over time. Yet, the only preregistered experiment that tested for the lasting benefits of gratitude failed to find any (Nelson-Coffey et al. 2023). While scholars have traditionally been rewarded for breaking new theoretical ground, there is an urgent need to test important existing theories using modern best practices in open science, particularly preregistration.

Although there is much to be done, we found inspiration in many of the studies we reviewed here. A number of them included diverse samples from Rwanda, Hungary, Indonesia, and other understudied countries, moving beyond the traditional focus on studying WEIRD—Western, educated, industrialized, rich, democratic—countries (Henrich et al. 2010). We are excited to see adversarial collaborations, multi-lab studies, and registered reports that can help to overcome the thorny problem of publication bias (Chambers 2013). Rather than simply creating pallid manipulations on MTurk, researchers have tested happiness interventions in naturalistic settings, from creating an entire office in India (Bessone et al. 2021) to providing laundry and meal vouchers for working mothers in Kenya (Whillans & West 2022). We were impressed by the ambitious design of many of the studies we reviewed, contradicting the old refrain that preregistration undermines

creativity (see Vazire 2018 for discussion). We also noticed that preregistration appears to be contagious: When researchers published a preregistered experiment on a specific topic (e.g., prosocial spending), others followed suit, preregistering their own studies on this topic. We hope that adopting other best practices highlighted in our review—such as using active control groups, avoiding demand characteristics, and recruiting large and diverse samples—will result in similar contagion effects. Finally, a central challenge for future research lies in identifying strategies that produce lasting increases in SWB. We are optimistic that happiness researchers can rise to this challenge, and the studies we reviewed here provide a valuable blueprint.

#### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Ruoning Li and Charul Maheska for their assistance with this manuscript. We also thank Sonja Lyubomirsky, Kostadin Kushlev, Lara Aknin, Ashley Whillans, Jan Emmanuel de Neve, and Johannes Haushofer for their feedback on earlier versions of this manuscript.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Aknin LB, Barrington-Leigh CP, Dunn EW, Helliwell JF, Burns J, et al. 2013. Prosocial spending and wellbeing: cross-cultural evidence for a psychological universal. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 104(4):635–52
- Aknin LB, Dunn EW, Proulx J, Lok I, Norton MI. 2020. Does spending money on others promote happiness? A registered replication report. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 119(2):e15–26
- Aknin LB, Dunn EW, Whillans AV. 2022. The emotional rewards of prosocial spending are robust and replicable in large samples. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 31(6):536–45
- Allcott H, Braghieri L, Eichmeyer S, Gentzkow M. 2020. The welfare effects of social media. *Am. Econ. Rev.* 110(3):629–76
- Andersen AG, Kotsadam A, Somville V. 2022. Material resources and well-being—evidence from an Ethiopian housing lottery. J. Health Econ. 83:102619
- Baumeister RF, Leary MR. 1995. The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychol. Bull.* 117(3):497–529
- Benjamin DJ, Heffetz O, Kimball MS, Rees-Jones A. 2012. What do you think would make you happier? What do you think you would choose? Am. Econ. Rev. 102(5):2083–110
- Bessone P, Rao G, Schilbach F, Schofield H, Toma M. 2021. The economic consequences of increasing sleep among the urban poor. Q. J. Econ. 136(3):1887–941
- Blanchflower DG, Oswald AJ, Stewart-Brown S. 2013. Is psychological well-being linked to the consumption of fruit and vegetables? *Soc. Indic. Res.* 114:785–801
- Chambers CD. 2013. Registered reports: a new publishing initiative at Cortex. Cortex 49:609-10
- Coles NA, March DS, Marmolejo-Ramos F, Larsen JT, Arinze NC, et al. 2022. A multi-lab test of the facial feedback hypothesis by the Many Smiles Collaboration. *Nat. Hum. Behav.* 6(12):1731–42
- Coles NA, Gaertner L, Frohlich B, Larsen JT, Basnight-Brown DM. 2023. Fact or artifact? Demand characteristics and participants' beliefs can moderate, but do not fully account for, the effects of facial feedback on emotional experience. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 124(2):287–310
- Conner TS, Brookie KL, Carr AC, Mainvil LA, Vissers MC. 2017. Let them eat fruit! The effect of fruit and vegetable consumption on psychological well-being in young adults: a randomized controlled trial. *PLOS ONE* 12(2):e0171206
- Curry OS, Rowland LA, Van Lissa CJ, Zlotowitz S, McAlaney J, Whitehouse H. 2018. Happy to help? A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of performing acts of kindness on the well-being of the actor. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 76:320–29

#### data.ai. 2022. State of Mobile 2022. Rep., Jan. 12. https://www.data.ai/en/go/state-of-mobile-2022

Diener E. 1984. Subjective well-being. Psychol. Bull. 95(3):542-75

- Diener E, Northcott R, Zyphur MJ, West SG. 2022. Beyond experiments. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 17(4):1101-19
- Dunn EW, Aknin LB, Norton MI. 2008. Spending money on others promotes happiness. *Science* 319(5870):1687–88
- Dwyer RJ, Dunn EW. 2022. Wealth redistribution promotes happiness. PNAS 119(46):e2211123119
- Dwyer RJ, Kushlev K, Dunn EW. 2018. Smartphone use undermines enjoyment of face-to-face social interactions. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 78:233–39
- Dwyer RJ, Palepu A, Williams C, Zhao J. 2021. Unconditional cash transfers reduce homelessness. PsyArXiv, Nov. 18. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/ukngr
- Dwyer RJ, Zhuo AX, Dunn EW. 2023. Why do people turn to smartphones during social interactions? *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 109:104506
- Emmons RA, McCullough ME. 2003. Counting blessings versus burdens: an experimental investigation of gratitude and subjective well-being in daily life. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 84:377–89
- Folk D, Dunn E. 2023. A systematic review of the strength of evidence for the most commonly recommended happiness strategies in mainstream media. *Nat. Hum. Behav.* 7:1697–707
- Fraley RC, Vazire S. 2014. The N-pact factor: evaluating the quality of empirical journals with respect to sample size and statistical power. *PLOS ONE* 9(10):e109019
- Frederick S, Loewenstein G. 1999. Hedonic adaptation. In Well-Being: Foundations of Hedonic Psychology, ed. D Kahneman ED, N Schwarz, pp. 302–29. New York: Russell Sage Found.
- Fredrickson BL. 2004. The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 359(1449):1367-77
- Fritz MM, Walsh LC, Cole SW, Epel E, Lyubomirsky S. 2021. Kindness and cellular aging: a pre-registered experiment testing the effects of prosocial behavior on telomere length and well-being. *Brain Behav. Immun. Health* 11:100187
- Goldsworthy AK. 2006. Caesar: Life of a Colossus. New Haven, CT: Yale Univ. Press
- Hall M. 2023. Facebook. In Encyclopedia Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/topic/Facebook
- Han J, Kaiser C. 2022. Time use and happiness: evidence across three decades. Work. Pap., Zhejiang Univ., Hangzhou, China
- Hannibal KB, Aknin LB, Douglas KS, Viljoen JL. 2019. Does helping promote well-being in at-risk youth and ex-offender samples? J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 82:307–17
- Haushofer J, Chemin M, Jang C, Abraham J. 2020a. Economic and psychological effects of health insurance and cash transfers: evidence from a randomized experiment in Kenya. J. Dev. Econ. 144:102416
- Haushofer J, Mudida R, Shapiro J. 2020b. The comparative impact of cash transfers and psychotherapy on psychological and economic well-being. NBER Work. Pap. 28106
- Haushofer J, Shapiro J. 2016. The short-term impact of unconditional cash transfers to the poor: experimental evidence from Kenya. *Q. J. Econ.* 131(4):1973–2042
- Haushofer J, Shapiro J. 2018. The long-term impact of unconditional cash transfers: experimental evidence from Kenya. Work. Pap., Busara Center Behav. Econ., Nairobi, Kenya
- Heintzelman SJ, Kushlev K, Lutes LD, Wirtz D, Kanippayoor JM, et al. 2020. ENHANCE: evidence for the efficacy of a comprehensive intervention program to promote subjective well-being. *J. Exp. Psychol. Appl.* 26(2):360–83
- Henrich J, Heine SJ, Norenzayan A. 2010. The weirdest people in the world? Behav. Brain Sci. 33(2-3):61-135
- Henrich J, Henrich N. 2006. Culture, evolution and the puzzle of human cooperation. Cogn. Syst. Res. 7(2-3):220-45
- Hirshberg MJ, Frye C, Dahl CJ, Riordan KM, Vack NJ, et al. 2022. A randomized controlled trial of a smartphone-based well-being training in public school system employees during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J. Educ. Psychol.* 114(8):1895–911
- Hobbs C, Jelbert S, Santos LR, Hood B. 2022. Evaluation of a credit-bearing online administered happiness course on undergraduates' mental well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. *PLOS ONE* 17(2):0263514
- Hopper E. 2020. How volunteering can help your mental health. Greater Good Magazine, July 3. https:// greatergood.berkeley.edu/article/item/how\_volunteering\_can\_help\_your\_mental\_health

Jacobs AJ. 2018. Thanks a Thousand: A Gratitude Journey. New York: Simon & Schuster

- Jacques-Hamilton R, Sun J, Smillie LD. 2019. Costs and benefits of acting extraverted: a randomized controlled trial. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 148(9):1538–56
- Kahneman D, Krueger AB, Schkade DA, Schwarz N, Stone AA. 2004. A survey method for characterizing daily life experience: the day reconstruction method. *Science* 306(5702):1776–80
- Kardas M, Schroeder J, O'Brien E. 2022. Keep talking: (mis)understanding the hedonic trajectory of conversation. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 123(4):717–40
- Keech JJ, Hagger MS, Hamilton K. 2021. Changing stress mindsets with a novel imagery intervention: a randomized controlled trial. *Emotion* 21(1):123-36
- Kim G, Adams I, Diaw M, Celly M, Nelson LD, Jung MH. 2022. Prosocial spending encourages happiness: a replication of the only experiment reported in Dunn, Aknin, and Norton 2008. PLOS ONE 17(9):e0272434

Klotz L. 2021. Subtract: The Untapped Science of Less. London: Flatiron Books

- Kushlev K, Dunn EW. 2019. Smartphones distract parents from cultivating feelings of connection when spending time with their children. J. Soc. Pers. Relatsb. 36(6):1619–39
- Kushlev K, Dwyer R, Dunn EW. 2019. The social price of constant connectivity: Smartphones impose subtle costs on well-being. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 28(4):347–52
- Kushlev K, Proulx JD, Dunn EW. 2017. Digitally connected, socially disconnected: the effects of relying on technology rather than other people. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 76:68–74
- Kvarven A, Strømland E, Johannesson M. 2020. Comparing meta-analyses and preregistered multiplelaboratory replication projects. Nat. Hum. Behav. 4(4):423–34
- Layous K, Chancellor J, Lyubomirsky S. 2014. Positive activities as protective factors against mental health conditions. *7. Abnorm. Psychol.* 123(1):3–12
- Lesani A, Mohammadpoorasl A, Javadi M, Esfeh JM, Fakhari A. 2016. Eating breakfast, fruit and vegetable intake and their relation with happiness in college students. *Eat. Weight Disord.* 21(4):645–51
- Lindqvist E, Östling R, Cesarini D. 2020. Long-run effects of lottery wealth on psychological well-being. *Rev. Econ. Stud.* 87(6):2703–26
- Lucas RE. 2007. Adaptation and the set-point model of subjective well-being: Does happiness change after major life events? *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 16(2):75–79
- Lyubomirsky S. 2011. Hedonic Adaptation to Positive and Negative Experiences. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Lyubomirsky S, Layous K. 2013. How do simple positive activities increase well-being? Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 22(1):57–62
- Martela F, Ryan RM. 2021. If giving money to the Red Cross increases well-being, does taking money from the Red Cross increase ill-being? Evidence from three experiments. *J. Res. Pers.* 93:104114
- McGuire J, Kaiser C, Bach-Mortensen AM. 2022. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of cash transfers on subjective well-being and mental health in low-and middle-income countries. *Nat. Hum. Behav.* 6(3):359–70
- McIntosh C, Zeitlin A. 2022. Using household grants to benchmark the cost effectiveness of a USAID workforce readiness program. *J. Dev. Econ.* 157:102875
- Miles A, Upenieks L. 2022. Moral self-appraisals explain emotional rewards of prosocial behavior. J. Happiness Stud. 23(5):1793–814
- Montgomery A, Mingis K. 2022, The evolution of Apple's iPhone. *Computer World*, Sept. 14. https://www.computerworld.com/article/2604020/the-evolution-of-apples-iphone.html
- Musick MA, Wilson J. 2003. Volunteering and depression: the role of psychological and social resources in different age groups. Soc. Sci. Med. 56(2):259–69
- Nelson LD, Simmons J, Simonsohn U. 2018. Psychology's renaissance. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 69:511-34
- Nelson-Coffey SK, Johnson C, Coffey JK. 2023. Safe haven gratitude improves emotions, well-being, and parenting outcomes among parents with high levels of attachment insecurity. J. Posit. Psychol. 18(1):75–85
- Noone C, Hogan MJ. 2018. A randomised active-controlled trial to examine the effects of an online mindfulness intervention on executive control, critical thinking and key thinking dispositions in a university student sample. *BMC Psychol.* 6(1):13
- Nosek BA, Ebersole CR, DeHaven AC, Mellor DT. 2018. The preregistration revolution. *PNAS* 115(11):2600–6

Nuzzo R. 2014. Statistical errors. Nature 506(7487):150-52

O'Brien E. 2022. The "next" effect: when a better future worsens the present. Soc. Psychol. Pers. Sci. 13(2):456-65

O'Brien E, Kassirer S. 2019. People are slow to adapt to the warm glow of giving. Psychol. Sci. 30(2):193-204

- O'Brien E, Smith RW. 2019. Unconventional consumption methods and enjoying things consumed: recapturing the "first-time" experience. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 45(1):67–80
- Oishi S, Choi H, Koo M, Galinha I, Ishii K, et al. 2020. Happiness, meaning, and psychological richness. *Affect. Sci.* 1(2):107–15
- Orben A, Przybylski AK. 2019. The association between adolescent well-being and digital technology use. *Nat. Hum. Behav.* 3:173–82
- Piqueras JA, Kuhne W, Vera-Villarroel P, van Straten A, Cuijpers P. 2011. Happiness and health behaviours in Chilean college students: a cross-sectional survey. *BMC Public Health* 11:443
- Przybylski AK, Nguyen TVT, Law W, Weinstein N. 2021. Does taking a short break from social media have a positive effect on well-being? Evidence from three preregistered field experiments. *J. Technol. Behav. Sci.* 6:507–14
- Rankin K, Sweeny K. 2022. Preparing silver linings for a cloudy day: the consequences of preemptive benefit finding. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 48(8):1255–68
- Resnick B. 2019. Have smartphones really destroyed a generation? We don't know. *Vox*, May 16. https://www. vox.com/science-and-health/2019/2/20/18210498/smartphones-tech-social-media-teensdepression-anxiety-research
- Richard FD, Bond CF, Stokes-Zoota JJ. 2003. One hundred years of social psychology quantitatively described. *Rev. Gen. Psychol.* 7(4):331–63
- Rubin M, Donkin C. 2022. Exploratory hypothesis tests can be more compelling than confirmatory hypothesis tests. *Philos. Psychol.* In press. https://doi.org/10.1080/09515089.2022.2113771
- Ryan RM, Deci EL. 2001. On happiness and human potentials: a review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 52:141–66
- Schroeder J, Lyons D, Epley N. 2022. Hello, stranger? Pleasant conversations are preceded by concerns about starting one. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 151(5):1141–53
- Schroter FA, Siebertz M, Jansen P. 2023. The impact of a short body-focused meditation on body ownership and interoceptive abilities. *Mindfulness* 14(1):159–73
- Schueller SM. 2014. Person-activity fit in positive psychological interventions. In *The Wiley Blackwell Handbook* of *Positive Psychological Interventions*, ed. AC Parks, SM Schueller, pp. 385–402. New York: Wiley
- Sheldon KM. 2016. Putting eudaimonia in its place. In Handbook of Eudaimonic Well-Being, ed. J Vittersø, pp. 531–41. Cham, Switz.: Springer
- Simmons JP, Nelson LD, Simonsohn U. 2011. False-positive psychology: Undisclosed flexibility in data collection and analysis allows presenting anything as significant. *Psychol. Sci.* 22(11):1359–66
- Simmons JP, Nelson LD, Simonsohn U. 2013. Life after p-backing. Paper presented at the Meeting of the Society for Personality and Social Psychology, New Orleans, LA, Jan. 17–19
- Simonsohn U, Simmons J, Nelson LD. 2022. Meaningless means: Some fundamental problems with metaanalytic averages. Data Colada, Nov. 1. http://datacolada.org/104
- Strack F, Martin LL, Stepper S. 1988. Inhibiting and facilitating conditions of the human smile: a nonobtrusive test of the facial feedback hypothesis. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 54(5):768–77
- Swingle MK. 2021. COVID, mental health and interactive screen use, complement or override. *BC Psychol.* 10(1):8–16
- Todd B. 2020. This is your most important decision. 80,000 Hours. https://80000hours.org/make-adifference-with-your-career/
- Turkle S. 2011. Alone Together: Why We Expect More from Technology and Less from Each Other. New York: Basic Books
- Twenge JM. 2019. More time on technology, less happiness? Associations between digital-media use and psychological well-being. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 28(4):372–79
- Twenge JM, Haidt J, Lozano J, Cummins KM. 2022. Specification curve analysis shows that social media use is linked to poor mental health, especially among girls. *Acta Psychol.* 224:103512
- Varma MM, Chen D, Lin X, Aknin LB, Hu X. 2023. Prosocial behavior promotes positive emotion during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Emotion* 23(2):538–53

- Varma MM, Hu X. 2022. Prosocial behaviour reduces unwanted intrusions of experimental traumatic memories. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 148:103998
- Vazire S. 2018. Implications of the credibility revolution for productivity, creativity, and progress. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 13(4):411–17
- Vazire S. 2019. Do we want to be credible or incredible? APS Observer, Dec. 23. https://www.psychologicalscience.org/observer/do-we-want-to-be-credible-or-incredible
- Verduyn P, Gugushvili N, Massar K, Täht K, Kross E. 2020. Social comparison on social networking sites. *Curr. Opin. Psychol.* 36:32–37
- Vosgerau J, Simonsohn U, Nelson LD, Simmons JP. 2019. 99% impossible: a valid, or falsifiable, internal meta-analysis. 7. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 148(9):1628–39
- Wagenmakers EJ, Beek T, Dijkhoff L, Gronau QF, Acosta A, et al. 2016. Registered replication report: Strack, Martin, & Stepper 1988. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 11(6):917–28
- Walsh LC, Regan A, Twenge JM, Lyubomirsky S. 2023. What is the optimal way to give thanks? Comparing the effects of gratitude expressed privately, one-to-one via text, or publicly on social media. *Affect. Sci.* 4:82–91
- West C, Mogilner C, DeVoe SE. 2021. Happiness from treating the weekend like a vacation. *Soc. Psychol. Pers. Sci.* 12(3):346–56
- Whillans AV, Dunn EW, Smeets P, Bekkers R, Norton MI. 2017. Buying time promotes happiness. PNAS 114(32):8523–27
- Whillans AV, West C. 2022. Alleviating time poverty among the working poor: a pre-registered longitudinal field experiment. *Sci. Rep.* 12:719
- White CA, Uttl B, Holder MD. 2019. Meta-analyses of positive psychology interventions: The effects are much smaller than previously reported. *PLOS ONE* 14(5):e0216588
- White MW, Khan N, Deren JS, Sim JJ, Majka EA. 2022. Give a dog a bone: Spending money on pets promotes happiness. *7. Posit. Psychol.* 17(4):589–95
- Wu S, Paluck E. 2022. Having a voice in your group: Increasing productivity through group participation. Behav. Public Policy. In press. https://doi.org/10.1017/bpp.2022.9